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AFFIRMATION IN SUPPORT OF MOTION OF FORMER NEW YORK

PROSECUTORS FOR LEAVE TO FILE AN AMICI CURIAE BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF

DEFENDANT-APPELLANT MARTIN TANKLEFF

Andrew H. Schapiro, an attorney duly admitted to practice law in the courts of the State

of New York, affirms under penalty of perjury that the following statements are true, except

those made on information and belief, which he believes to be true:

I.

I am a partner of the law firm of Mayer, Brown, Rowe & Maw LLP. I am counsel to a
group of former New York prosecutors (hereinafter “prospective amici”’) who move for
leave to file an amici curiae brief in support of defendant-appellant Martin Tankleff.
True and correct copies of the County Court’s denial of Defendant-Appellant’s motion

pursuant to C.P.L. Section 440.10 and Defendant-Appellant’s Notice of Appeal are

attached hereto at Tabs A and B, respectively.

. Prospective amici are a group of thirty-one former New York county, state, and federal

prosecutors. They include a former District Attorney for Queens County, former county
district attorney bureau chiefs, former county assistant district attorneys and former
Assistant United States Attorneys.'

Prospective amici have a continuing interest in maintaining the legitimacy of the criminal
justice system as a fair and effective means of punishing the guilty and freeing the
innocent. In this case, the appellant-defendant Martin Tankleff has presented strong
evidence that he was wrongfully convicted. The County Court’s decision, having applied
an unduly restrictive approach to the evidence, threatens those important interests and

would result in undermining public confidence in our system of justice. Under the
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A complete list of amici is found in Appendix A to the proposed brief, which is attached

hereto at Tab C.



intense public scrutiny that wrongful conviction claims receive, the failure to produce a
just result resounds far beyond the confines of a particular case. The role of prosecutors
is weakened, and their credibility before juries, judges, and the public is diminished, if a
just outcome is not evident where the public most demands it. Thus, prospective amici
submit this brief from their perspective as individuals with a strong interest in ensuring
the reliability of the criminal justice system and who share a concern that the task of
prosecutors will become more difficult if the public cannot be confident that the innocent
can be exonerated.

In their brief, prospective amici urge this Court to reverse the County Court’s denial of
Defendant-Appellant’s motion pursuant to C.P.L. Section 440.10.

Specifically, prospective amici discuss how public confidence in the reliability of our
system of justice has been shaken by revelations that false confessions have caused
innocent defendants to be convicted of serious crimes. They then identify two factors
that significantly increase the likelihood that of a false confession—inducement of
confessions using false evidence of a suspect’s guilt and the suspect’s youth-—that are
both present in this case. Weighing the circumstances surrounding Tankleff’s confession,
together with the lack of evidence directly linking him to the crimes and the evidence he
presents of his innocence, prospective amici conclude that the balance tips strongly in
favor of granting Tankleff’s section 440.10 motion for a new trial.

Prospective amici’s brief will aid the Court by drawing upon their extensive experience
in prosecuting crime, evaluating the reliability of confessions, and weighing the strength

of evidence supporting a criminal conviction.



WHEREFORE, Andrew H. Schapiro respectfully requests that this Court issue an order

granting a motion for leave to file the proposed amici curiae brief of former New York

prosecutors.
Dated: New York, New York .
January 5, 2007 g Lo N
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COUNTY COURT OF SUFFOLK COUNTY
TRIAL TERM, PART 6 SUFFOLK COUNTY

THE PEQPLE OF THE STATE OF NEW YORK,
BRASLOW, J. C. C.

vs : DATE: March 17, 2006
MARTIN H. TANKLEFF, : CQURT CASE NO.: 1535-88
: 1290-88
Defendant, :

THOMAS SPOTA, ESQ. BRUCE A. BARKET, ESQ.
SUFFOLK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY ATTORNEY FOR THE DEFENDANT
By: Leonard Lato, Esq. 666 0ld Country Recad
Criminal Courts Building Suite 100

Center Drive South Garden City, NY 11530

Riverhead, New York 11901

The defendant served and filed a motion pursuant to CPL 440
seeking the vacatur of his judgment of conviction based upon a free
standing claim of actual innocence, or in the alternative for a new
trial. Both requests are based upon a claim of newly discovered
evidence. This court granted the motion with the consent of the
District Attorney to the extent that a hearing was ordered. The
hearing was held and the parties were given the opportunity to submit
post hearing memoranda. Prior to completing the submission of the post
hearing memoranda, the defendant moved to reopen the hearing based
upon the affidavit of Joseph John Guarascio, in which he asserted thet
his father, Joeseph Creeden, told him that he participated in the
murders of Seymour and Arlene Tankleff. The application was granted
and the court heard the testimony of Joseph John Guarascio. The court
has received and censidered all post hearing memoranda, and additional
memoranda submitted upon the completion of Joseph John Guarascio’s
testimony. The following constitutes the court’s decision.

Buring the early morning hours of September 7, 1988 the
defendant’s parents, Arlene and Seymour Tankleff were brutally



attacked in their Belle Terre home. Arlene was struck about the head
with a blunt object and her throat was slit. She died of those wounds
that morning. Seymour received similar wounds but managed to survive
until he died as a result of those injuries on October 6, 1988. The
defendant was initially indicted for the second degree murder of his
mother Arlene and for the attempted murder and first degree assault of
his father Seymour. The charges against the defendant as they
pertained to his father were then elevated by a succeeding indictment
to the second degree murder of Seymour Tankleff after his death. The
defendant was ultimately convicted by a jury of the second degree
murders of Seymour and Arlene Tankleff, and was sentenced to two

consecutive twenty-five years to life terms of imprisonment which he
is currently serving.

MOTION FOR A NEW TRIAIL

Other than the confession given to Suffolk County Detectives by
the defendant a few hours after the attacks in which the defendant
admitted to the assaults upon his parents, the defendant has insisted
that he is innccent and that the likely murderers were his father’s
business partner, Jerry Steuerman, and some other persons hired by
Jerry Steuerman {0 murder the Tankleffs. The defendant’s theory
arises from the fact that his father and Jerry Steuerman were business
partners and that Jerry Steuerman owed the defendant’s father a
substantial sum of money. Jerry Steuerman was not making the
payments that he was obligated to make pursuant to their agreements
and Seymour Tankleff was getting aggravated by Jerry Steuerman’s
recalcitrance. To make matters worse, Seymour Tankleff learned that
Jerry Steuerman had purchased a race horse for $30,000 while ignoring
the debts owed him. Because of this, Seymour Tankleff was threatening
to enforce payment of the debts, and were he to be successful, it may
have resulted in Seymour gaining control of some of Jerry Steuerman’s
business interests. The defendant contends that Jerry Steuerman was
adamant that Seymour was overreaching and that he would do anything to
avoeid losing his businesses to Seymour Tankleff. According to the
defendant this is what led Jerry Steuerman to the desperate end of
arranging for the murders cof Seymour and Arlene Tankleff; to avoid

paying the debts owed to Seymour Tankleff and to avoid losing his
businesses to him.

To support his contention the defendant moved this court based
upon two sworn statements, one by Karlene Kovacs dated 1994, and



another by Glenn Harris dated August 29, 2003. These two sworn
statements, together with what he had known at the time of the trial,
and what he learned thereafter, apparently led the defendant to locate
the numerous other witnesses he called at the hearing.

There are several reasons why the defendant’s motion for a new
trial should be denied. Among them are the defendant’s failure to
exercise due diligence in making the motion, that testimony the
defendant wants admitted at a new trial is inadmissible hearsay, that
expert testimony pertaining to the confession would not change the
outcome of the trial, and that the defendant has not introduced any
evidence which would prove that the pipe which the defendant claims is
Lhe murder weapon has any connection with these crimes.

A. DUE DILIGENCE

The court will first address the People’s assertion that the
defendant has failed to exercise due diligence in moving for this
nearing.

CPL _§440.10 provides in pertinent part:

1. At any time after the entry of a judgment, the ¢ourt in which
it was entered may, upon motion of the defendant, vacate such
judagment upon the ground that:

* * *

{g) New evidence has been discovered since the entry of a
jadgment based upon a verdict of guilty after trial, which could
not have been produced by the defendant at the trial even with
due diligence on his part and which is of such character as to
create a probability that had such evidence been received at the
trial the verdict would have been more favorable to the
defendant; provided that a motion based upon such ground must be
made with due diligence after the discovery of such alleged new
evidence... [Emphasis added.]

The Court in Pegple v. Nixcn, 21 N.Y¥.2d 338 held:

In stale cases, defendants have all to gain by reopening old
convictions, retrial being so often an impossibility. These are



factors teo consider in determining how valid the assertions are;
albeit, if they are made out, justice requires that they be
explored in a hearing (cf. People v. Chait, 7 A D Zd 399, 401,
affd. 6 N Y 2d 855)

The People contend that the defendant failed to exercise due
diligence in moving for a new trial since he had the Kovacs statement
since 1994. The defendant has not adequately explained why he sat with
the Kovacs statement for nearly nine years. In fact, Jay Salpeter, the
defendant’s investigator did concede at the hearing that an
investigator could have developed that lead at that time and located
Glenn Harris. The defendant could have fully investigated the
assertions made by Kovacs in 1994 which very well could have led him
to uncover the same witnesses he was able to produce in 2005. The
Kovacs statement directly implicates Creedon and a Steuerman. Indecd,
the defendant apparently had information about an alleged conversation
between Jerry Steuerman and Joseph Creedon since the trial. (See
decision of J. Tisch dated October 4, 198G.) Since the defendant was
accusing Jerry Steuerman since the date of the murders and had
information about an alleged conversation between him and Creedon, it
is bewildering why the defendant did not move in 1394 based upon this,
but instead waited until he had the sworn statement of Glenn Harris,
nine years later. :

Accordingly, the defendant’s motion for a new trial is denied
since the defendant failed teo exercise due diligence in moving for a
new trial based upon the newly discovered evidence, that besing the
sworn statement of Karlene Kovacs which the defendant had since 1994,
See Feople v. Stuart, 123 A.D.2d 46,

B. HEARSAY

In addition to the affidavits of Karlene RKovacs and Glenn Harris
the defendant has introduced what he has characterized as newly
discovered evidence which consisted mainly of the testimony from a
cavalcade of nefarious scoundrels paraded before this court by him.
Most of these withesses were persons with extensive g¢riminal histories
Lhat included illegal drug use and sales, burglary, robbery, assault
and other similar crimes. Some of these individuals claimed that
Joseph Creedon admitted to them that he participated in the murder of
the Tarnkleffs, which testimony is hearsay.

In People v. Salemi, 309 N.Y. 208 the Court held:

The test thus enunciated was long age approved in this court, and
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since followed - viz.: that " Newly-discovered evidence in ocorder
to be sufficient must fulfill all the folleowing requirements: 1.
I must be such as will probably change the result if a new trial
is granted; 2. It must have been discovered since the trial; 3.
It must be such as could have not been discovered before the
trial by the exercise of due diligence; 4. It must be material to
the issue; 5. It must not be cumulative to the former issue; and,

6. It must not be merely impeaching or contradicting the former
evidence."

The newly discovered evidence must be evidence admissible at
trial {(People v Bovette, 201 A.D.2d 490, 491, 607 N.Y.S8.2d 402
11994); People v Dabbs, 154 Misc. 2d 671, ©74, 587 N.Y.S.2d 90

{1991]; see also People v Fields, 66 N.Y.2d 876, 877, 498
N.Y.5.2d 759, 489 N.E.2d 728 [1985]}.

Hearsay has been defined as “a statement made out of court, that
is, not made in the course of the trial in which it is offered, [and
which] is offered for the truth of the fact asserted in it.” Prince,
Richardson on Evidence §8-101. See People v. Huertas, 75 N.Y¥.2d 487.

Generalily, hearsay is not admissible as evidence {(People v.
Caviness, 38 N.Y.2d 227) since there is no opportunity Lo Cross-
examine the declarant and it usually consists of a statement nct made
under oath, although an affidavit can be hearsay, Sadowsky v. Chat
Noir, Inc., 64 A.D.2d 697. The purpose of the exclusion is to assure
that the adversary is given the opportunity to confront and cross-

cxamine the witness who allegedly made the statement and to eliminate
unreliable testimony.

Hearsay is admissible as evidence only under ceratin exceptions
and only if found to be reliable. Pecple v. Brensic, 70 N.Y.2d 9. One

of those exceptions is the declaration against the declarant’s penal
interest,

The statements purportedly made by Joseph Creedon to certain
individuals in which he allegedly admitted that he was involved in the

murders of the Tankleffs would be declarations against Creedon’s penal
interesti.

for a declaration against one’s penal interest to be admitted
into evidence as an exception to the hearsay rule the Court in People
v. Settles, 46 N.Y.2d 154 enunciated four elements, all of which must
be savisfied:

|Flirst, the declarant must be unavailable as a witness at trial;
second, when the statement was made the declarant must be aware
that it was adverse to his penal interest; third, the declarant
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must have competent knowledge of the facts underlying the
statement; and, fourth, and most important, supporting
circumstances independent of the statement itself must be present
to attest to its frustworthiness and reliability (see Pecple v
Harding, 37 NY2d 130, 135 [concurring opn]; Richardson, Evidence

{10th ed -- Princel,$ 257; Fisch, New York Evidenge [2d ed], §
822y .

This should be balanced against Pecple v. Darrisaw, 206 A.D.Z2d
661 in which the court held:

Although the mandates of due process further restrict the
circumstances under which a statement endangering the maker's
penal interest may be used against a criminal defendant (see,
People v Maserling, 46 NY2d 289, 298), in a case where, as here,
the statement is exculpatory as to defendant, a less exacting
standard applies (see, People v Smith, 195 ADZd 112, 125).

In reaching the following conclusions, the court has balanced the
reliability of the witnesses who testified that Creedopn uttered the
incriminatory statements against his own penal interest, against the
defendant’s argument that he is entitled to a new trial as a result of
these agssertions because a less stringent standard should apply (see
Darrisaw, supra), and that the defendant would be denied due process
were they not to be admitted at a new trial.

The defendant fails to satisfy the first element of the holding
in Settrles, supra, in that Creedon testified at the hearing and denied
any involvement in the murders, and this court has no reason to
believe that he would not be available to testify at a new trial.
Secondly, many of the witnesses who testified that they heard Creeden
admit to committing these murders were shown to be unreliable,
incredible, contradictory, and possibly motivated to harm Creedon by
having him convicted of these murders.

This includes his son who this court believes was motivated by
his mother who was both physically and emotionally abused by Joseph
Creedon while they lived together. The abuse caused her to run and
hide from him with their son. Additionally, it appears that Joseph
Creedon failed in his financial obligations to them. Accordingly, the
court finds the testimony of Joseph John Guarascio to be incredible
and unreliable and due to the motivations of his mother.

'he testimony of Karlene Kovacs also lacks credibility and
reliability. She contradicted the statements contained in the
affidavit by her testimony at the hearing. In her affidavit she stated
that she went to her friend John Guarascio’s sister’s house. AU the
time, John Guarascio’s sister Terri Covias lived with Joseph Creedon.
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Kovacs states in her affidavit that while she and Creedon were in the
bedroom of that house smoking a “Jjoint,” Creedon told her that he was
involved in the Tankleff murders. The affidavit alsc states that
Terri Covias and Creedon were married.

Kovacs testified at the hearing that she and Creedon went through
the bedroom and then outdoors to smoke the “joint.” She admitted she
knew that Creedon and Terri Covias were not married at the time she
signed the affidavit, but she testified that she read and signed the
affidavit anyway. It also appears that Kovacs had a cocaine abuse
problem at that time, and entered a rehabilitation program in November
of the year that statement was purportedly made to her by Creedon.

Additionally, it appears that Kovacs embellished her testimony at
the hearing to include the assertion that Creedon got rid of clothes
he was wearing which was not included in her affidaivit.

Robert Gottlieb, the attorney who represented the defendant at
the trial and for a time thereafter, interviewed Kovacs and prepared
her affidavit. He testified at the hearing that he did not add
anything to the affidavit that Kovacs did not tell him, and that the
affidavit is complete as to what she did say to him.

Apparently, Kovacs also has developed a biased interest in the
outcome of this matter. She has become a member of the defendant’s
website, has chatted on the internst about this matter, and has stated
that she can not wait to give the defendant a hug.

Accordingly, this court finds that the statements made by Creedon
to Kovacs would not be admissible at a new trial since Kovacs lacks
reliabilily and credibility.

There was testimony Joseph Graydon that there was an attempt by
Creedon to commit the murder of Seymour Tankleff in the summer of 1988
at Lhe StLralhmore Bagel shop. However, Graydon testified that the shop
was closed and Seymour Tankleff was not there, so Creedon and his
accomplice Joseph Graydon chose to throw a garbage pail through a
glass door cof a greeting card shop in the same shopping center and
then steal from it. Records of the Suffolk County Police Department
and the testimony of the store manager do not corroborate the
assertion. Instead it appears that burglary occurred in November of
that year, after the Tankleffs were murdered.

Graydon also testified that Creedon subsequently admitted to him
in 1992 or 1993 that he killed a couple of pecple. This admission
purportedly was made while they were having an argument over who had
the right to sell drugs at a particular bar.



The court finds this testimony to be unreliable since it appears
that the burglary of the card store did not happen when Graydon
testified that it did, and that Graydon’s testimony is tainted as the
admission was supposedly made while he was arguing with Creedon over
which one of them could sell drugs at a particular location.

The defendant claims that Brain Scott Glass was offered the job
of hurting or killing the Tankleffs but did not want the job and
passed it on to Creedon, and that the defendant expected him to
testify to that. However, Glass testified that he was offered help by
the defense in defending a robbery charge and that is why he told them
that he would testify that he passed the job of killing the Tankleffs
on to Creedon. The defendant asserted that Glass was offered
favorable treatment on the robbery charge by the District Attorney and
s changed his testimony to favor the People. The court finds that
5lass’ testimony, even were he to now testify in favor of the
defendant would not be worthy of belief.

Billy Ram testified that on the night before the murders,
Creedon said “he was going to rough up some Jew in the pagel
business.” Ram refused to help him with the job. Ram also testified
that Creedon told him that he murdered the Tankleffs. However, Billy
Ram has been involved in criminal activity since at least the time of
the Tankleff murders. Moreover, subsequent to testifying at this
hearing, Ram was involved in a shoot out with members of the
Hillsborough County Sheriff‘s Department in Florida after having
commitied several armed robberies. He was wounded by deputies in the
shootout and he is currently awaiting sentence.

Additicnally Peter Kent, who testified on behalf of the People,
testified that Billy Ram told him he received $10,000 from Salpeter,
that he was set up to receive $50,000 and that the car they were in
was rented for him by Salpeter. Defendant denies that anyone was paid
above out of pocket expenses and lost wages. - '

In any event, this court finds that Billy Ram’s testimony is not
worthy of belief. He is clearly an individual who has always put his
personal interests above society’s which is demonstrated by his
tengthy and viclent criminal activity which continues to this day, and
this court does not believe that he would do anything like testifying

in favor of this defendant out of some underlying need to see justice
done.

Gaetano Foti also testified that Creedon told him that Tankleff
dign’t do it, that Creedon was there and that he killed the Tankleffs.
However, on cross-examination Foti testified that Creedon may have

only said that Tankleff didn’t do it and that he knows that because he
was there.



It thus appears that Foti’s testimony is equivocal and not
reiiable.

Accordingly, the declarations purportedly made by Creedcen against
his penal interest would not be admissible at trial since he is
available to testify, and this court finds these witnesses to whom
these statements were purportedly made to be incredible and
anreliable. People v. Buie, 86 N.Y.2d 501. Even using the less
stringent standard of Darrisaw, the court still finds that due to the
tack of credibility of these witnesses, the purported statements
against Creedon’s penal interest would not be admissible at & new
rrial.

Glenn Harris, the individual who allegedly drove Creedon and
Peter Kent, the cother alleged killer to the Tankleff home on the night
of the murders, was unavailable toc testify because he invoked his
fifth amendment right against self incrimination when he was called to
testify at the hearing. Eegple V. Stultz, 2 N.Y.3d 277. The defendant
sought immunity for Glen Harris which the People refused the grant.
This court refused to grant defendant’s application to compel the
pecple to grant Harris immunity.

The court in People v. Darrisaw, 206 A.D.2d 661 went on to hold:

Moreover, where the statement forms a critical part of the
defense, due process concerns may tip the scales in favor of
admission (see, Chambers v Mississippi, 410 Us 284, 302).
Given the foregoing, the prosecutor's refusal to grant
Maiola immunity, though not per se improper {(see, People v
Owens, 63 NY2d 824; People v Finkle, 192 AD2d 783, 187, 1lv
denied 82 NY2d 753), bears profoundly on the correctness of
County Court's ruling not to permit introduction of Maiola's
statement.

The defendant argues that the Court in People v _Robinson (89
N.Y.2d 648, 679 N.E.2d 1055, 657 N.Y.S8.2d 575 [1997]1) held:

{Tlhat the trial court erred in excluding grand jury testimony of
an unavailable witness. Evidence of this type, we held, must be
admitted when it is material, exculpatory and has sufficlent
indicia of reliability.

However, for this court to permit the introduction of the Harris
affidavit into evidence, the court must find that it is worthy of
belief. See Pegple v. Stultz, 2 N.Y.3d 277.

There was substantial evidence that Harris is mentally unstable
and eguivocal, often recanting his statements. Additicnally there was
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evidence that Harris sought details of the crime from Salpeter, the
defendant’s investigator, which would indicate that he probably had
nothing to do with committing the crimes. Moreover, evidence was
provided at the hearing which indicated that he wanted to incriminate
Peter Kent because Peter Kent had an affair with his wife. This court
finds that the affidavit provided by Harris would not be admissible at
rrial since it lacks trustworthiness and reliability, and even were he
to testify at a new trial, it would appear his testimony would lack

any credibility. People v. Bedi, 299 A.D.2d 556 and cf. People V.
Cabot, 294 A.D.2d 444.

Father Lemmert, is the prison chaplain who has dealt with Glen
Harris while Harris was incarcerated and apparently has discussed this
matter with him. Being a prison chaplain is probably one of the most
difficult callings a member of the clergy can undertake, and this
sourt has the highest regard for Father Lemmert. The court believes
the testimony of Father Lemmert as to what he heard Harris tell him,
however, it is Harris who is not worthy of belief for the reasons
fully discussed above. Since what Father Lemmert heard Harris tell him

is unreliable hearsay, it would not be admissible as evidence at a
trial.

There was also testimony by Neil Fischer, a disinterested and
well meaning individual who apparently had the best of intentions in
testifying at this hearing. However, this court also finds the
testimony of Neil Fischer to be unreliable. Mr. Fischer testified
that while he had his head in a cabinet that he was installing in one
of Jerry Steuerman’s bagel stores, he overheard Jerry Steuerman having
an argument with somecne wherein Steuerman was complaining about the
bagel ovens that were provided by that person, and that Steuerman
said in anger that he had already killed two people. This statement
was overheard by Fischer while he had his head in a cabinet and he was
probably not paying close attention to what was being said. The
statement was taken out of context, may have been made facetiously
cince the defendant has been accusing Steuerman of the murders ever
since they were committed. Bdditionally, there has been no showing
that Jerry Steuerman would be unavailiable to testify at a new trial.
To the contrary, Jerry Steuerman did testify at the trial.
Accordingly, this statement would not be admissible as an exception to
the hearsay rule as a declaration against his penal interest since
there was no showing that Jerry Steuerman is not available to testify
and the testimony is unreliable.

Bruce Demps testified that he was told twice by Todd Steuerman,
Jerry Steuverman’s son, that defendant did not kill his parents and
that Todd’s father hired some one to kill them. This is pure hearsay
and would not be acdmissible at trial.
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T+ is also noted that some of the witnesses called by the People
such as Peter Kent and Robert Mineo had some of the same credibility
problems that some of the defendant’s witnesses had due tc their past
criminal records and drug use. Additionally, Peter Xent has a
personal stake in this case since he is one of the individuals the
defendant claims accompanied Creedon into the Tankleff home. However
the burden of proof is not on the People in this proceeding but rather
is on the defendant to demonstrate that he is entitled to a new trial
based upon the evidence he claims is newly discovered, and which would
result in a different verdict if presented to a jury, which is where
the defendant falls short.

The defendant also argues that some of these statements made by
Harris and Creedon fall into the exception of a then existing state of
mind. However this court believes that the crux of the statements
made by Creeden and Harris is that they admit their invelvement in the
crimes. The state of mind exception should not be used to prove past
facts contained in them. People v. Reynoso, 73 N.Y.2d 816.

Accordingly, the forgeoing testimony proffered by the defendant
would not be not admissible at trial since it is inadmissible hearsay.

C. THE CONFESSION

The defendant contends that his conviction was the result of
nis unsigned confession, which he claims is false, being admitted into
evidence. He asserts that the confession was obtained through the use
of police interrogation tactics which have become associated with
false confessions. To support this, he seeks to have Richard J. Qfshe
testify as an expert witness on false confessions at his trial. The
defendant contends that the information which would be provided to the
jury at a new trial constitutes new evidence since the research into
this area did not exist at the time of his trial.

Mr. Ofshe testified at the hearing and it is his conclusion that
the interrogation tactics used by the detectives in this case are

consistent with other cases in which false confessions have been.
obtained.

These aspects have been the subject cof the court’s decision in
People v. Kogut, 2005 NY Slip Op 25409. In that case Dr. Ofshe
restified along with Dr. Kassin and other experts in analyzing the
~onfession of Kogut. After reviewing testimony from Kogut’s Huntley
hearing and the prior trial, Dr. Kassin concluded that Kogut's
confession was involuntary. The court found that:

Dr. Kassin relied primarily on the length of the interrogation,
15 plus hours to produce the written statement, as well as the
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evidence that Mr. Kogut was deprived of food and sleep, was
prevented from speaking with his girlfriend, may have been under
the influence of alcchol and/or drugs, was confronted with
persistent denials of his claim of innocence, and may have been
misled as to the results cf the lie-detector test.

That court then went on to compare Dr. Ofshe’s testimony with Dr.
Xassin’s and found:

The work of Dr. Ofshe is more in the nature of descriptive
psychology. Dr. Ofshe has conducted case studies of actual
interrogations by reviewing transcripts, videotapes, and
audiotapes and interviewing people who were the subject of
custodial interrogations. Through these various methods, Dr.
Ofshe has studied over 300 police interrogations. Dr. Ofshe has
attempted to develop a model of interrogation technique which he

considers to be a form of "extreme influence." In this regard,
Dr. Ofshe's analysis parallels in large measure that of Dr..
Kassin.

In the instant matter, Dr. Ofshe has perfcrmed the function that
Dr. Kassin performed, as well as providing the background of his own
research and studies. Based upon his review of the defendant’s pre-
trial hearings and trial, coupled with his research, he concluded that
the defendant’s confession is consistent with a false confession. It
is this expert testimony that the defendant wishes to present to the

jury at a new trial, and which he contends would change the outcome of
his case. '

The court does not believe that in this case, given the facts and
circumstances surrounding the defendant’'s confession, that a different
outcome would result. There was no conduct by the detectives that
would have rendered the defendant’s confession false.

Unlike the defendant in People v. Kogut, 20605 NY Siip Op 254089,
the interview of the defendant in this case only lasted a few hours.
There was n¢ indication that he was denied any basic necessities, or
that he was under the influence of drugs or alcchol. He was however
tricked into confessing when Petective McCready pretended to receive a
telephone call from the hospital where defendant’s father was, and
told the defendant his father had accused him of attacking him. It was
this lie that induced the defendant toc confess.

Bowever offensive this may seem, this tactic has been deemed
acceptable time and again, and the least likely to result in a false
confessicon.

In United States v. Rodgers, 186 F. Supp. 2d 971 the court held:

The third tactic was the detective's lie that defendant's
tingerprints were found on the contraband; according to the
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detective this statement precipitated defendant's confession.
However, according to the Seventh Circuit, "a lie that relates to
a suspect's connection tc the crime is the least likely to render
a confession involuntary." Holland, 963 F.2d at 1051. Defendant
had been questioned before and the circumstances of this
interrogation were relatively benign. Defendant was not
browbeaten with repeated assurance of his guilt by multiple
officers. Thus, the lie was unlikely to produce an unreliable
confession. See Lucero, 133 F.3d at 1311 (holding that an
officer’s lie that defendant's fingerprints were found at the
scene did not without more render confessiocn involuntary);
ledbetter, 35 F.3d at 1070 (same}.

Accordingly, this court finds that the proposed testimony of
Richard J. Ofshe would not result in a different jury verdict.

D. THE PIPE

At the hearing the defendant introduced a pipe into evidence
claiming that it was the actual murder weapon used to bludgeon the
victims. The claim is based on a statement provided by Glenn Harris
that he, along with Creedon and Kent drove to an empty lot and Creedon
tossed the pipe into that lot. The pipe, according to the defendant
had been in that lot since the morning of the murders, undetected by
anycne including the person who lived in a house on the adjacent lot,
until it was found last year by the defendant’s investigator.

The pipe was submitted by the defendant to a laboratory for the
purpose of having it examined for any physical evidence which would
connect it to the murders. Nothing was found. The defendant argues
that this was consistent with the fact that the pipe lay in a field
exposed to the elements for seventeen years which would have dissolved
any evidence which would have been on the pipe.

The People sent an investigator to that lot after the pipe was
found. The People’s investigator found other pipes of the same type
of varying lengths on the lot.

This court finds that the pipe has no probativé value.

1n addition to the foregoing, the defendant also called Leonard
Lubrano, the owner of a pizzeria as a witness. Mr. Lubrano appeared to
be a very honest individual and was a very credible witness.

Mr. Lubrano testified that he recalled that during the 1970's
and 1980's, when he owned a wholesale bakery business , he would go to
Jerry Steuerman’s bagel shop on a daily basis to purchase bagels for
resale as part of his regular business routine. Lubrano testified
that he recalls seeing Detective McCready at the bagel shop conversing
with Jerry Steuerman during that time. The defendant contends that
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this testimony directly affected the credibility of Detective McCready

since at trial he denied knowing Jerry Steuerman before the murders of
the Tankleffs.

This issue was raised by the defendant in a prior motion for a
new trial in 1990 in which the defendant presented the court with an
affidavit of a high school student. That student claimed in her
affidavit that Detective McCready admitted tc an auditorium full of
students that he knew Jerry Steuerman for years and that he was beyond
suspicion. Judge Tisch in his decision dated October 4, 1990 held
that “such evidence could not have been introduced at trial to impeach
the credibility of Detective McCready since it would have been
collateral to the issues.”

The testimony of Leonard Lubrano, another witness who would
testify that there was some kind of prior relationship between Jerry
Steuerman and Detective McCready does not change the ruling of Judge
Tisch in this case. This testimony woculd therefore not be admissible
at a new trial. :

Rocordingly, the court finds that the bulk of the evidence which
the defendant seeks to have presented at a new trial would be
inadmissible, and that what is left would be insufficient for a jury
to render a different verdict.

Therefore, defendant’s motion for a new trial is denied.

CLAIM OF ACTUAI INNOCENCE .

in People v. Cole, 1 Misc. 3d 531 the courts for the first time
in this state recognized that a free standing claim of actual
innocence can be considered as part of a motion pursuant to CPL §40.10
(1) (h) . The basis of this finding is that it would be violative the
New York State Constitution to keep an innocent person incarcerated.

A. DUE DILIGENCE

While this court would deny the defendant’s motion for a new
trial because he failed to exercise due diligence since he had the
Kovacs affidavit for nine years, this court does not deny this branch
of defendant’s motion for that reason. The basis of a motion to set
aside a guilty verdict upon a claim of actual innocence deoes not lend
itself to any claim of failing to exercise due diligence when it comes
to newly discovered evidence, since it would be abhorrent to the New
York State Constitution to keep somecone in prison who is actually
innocent merely because he foolishly failed to exercise due diligence
in proving his innocence. People v. Cole, 1 Misc. 3d 531.
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B. STANDARD OF PROOF

That being said, the court in Cole sought to determine what
standard of proof a defendant must meet, when that defendant nad
already been convicted beyond a reasonable doubt. That court held:

Balancing the public and private interests involved and
considering that the defendant has had the opportunity to prove
his innocence, the court finds that a movant making a
free-standing claim of innocence must establish by clear and
convincing evidence (considering the trial and hearing evidence)
thal no reasonable juror could convict the defendant of the
crimes for which the petitioner was found guilty. [Emphasis
added. ]

In this respect, a court conducting a hearing on a claim of
innocence should admit into evidence any reliable evidence
whether in admissible form or not (see Bousley, 523 U.S. at
623-624; Schlup, 513 U.S5. at 327-328; Herrera, 506 U.5. at 4473
IBlackmun, J., dissenting, joined by Stevens and Souter, JJ.]1).
This is so because the focus is on factual innocence and not on
whether the government can prove the defendant's guilt beyond a
reasonable deoubt.

This standard is different from defendant’s motion for a new
trial, since the evidence which the court would consider on a motion
for a new trial would be evidence which would be admissibie at a new
trial which is not the case for a claim of actual innocence.

according to the decision in Cole, any reliable evidence should
be considered by the court, including hearsay.

With this in mind, the court liberally allowed the defendant to
introduce whatever evidence he had, admissible at trial or not, to
determine whether the defendant could prove, by reliable clear and
convincing evidence as held in Cole that he was actually innoccent.

Clear and convincing evidence has been defined in Richardson,
Fvidence [11th ed., Princel,§3-205 as fcllows:

Between "a fair preponderance of the evidence" and "proof beyond
a reasonable doubt" is an intermediate standard of proof by
w-lear and convincing evidence." See Addington v Texas, 441 US
418, 423-424,

The party bearing the burden of establishing a fact by clear and
convincing evidence must "satisfy {the trier of fact] that the
evidence makes it highly probable that what he claims is what
actually happened." 1 NY PJl2d (Supp), P. J. T. 1:64; Home
Insurance v Karantonis, 156 AD2d 844, 550 NYszd 77; Sclomon v
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State, 146 AD2d 439, 541 NYS2d 384. The Court cf Appeals has
recognized the applicability of the standard in cilvil cases when
the "denial of personal or liberty rights" is at lissue, see
Matter of Cappoccia, 59 NY2d 549, 553, 466 NYS2d 268; or when
"particularly important personal interests are at stake.” Matterx
of Storar, 52 NY2d 363, 379, 438 NYS2d 266, cert den 454 US 858.
As the following examples show, a variety of policy imperatives
dictate adoption of the higher standard of probability refiected
by the term “"clear and convincing" evidence. 3ee also Grogan ¥
Garner, 498 US 279; Herman & Mclean v Huddleston, 459 Us- 375;
People v _Geraci, 85 Ny2d 359, 367, 625 NYS2d 469.

The defendant has painted a picture of Jerry Steuerman as being a
tough and callous businessman who had various business interests
including those which included Seymour. The defendant argues that
Jerry Steuerman had the Tankleffs murdered to avoid paying the debts
he owed Seymour Tankleff and to avoid losing his businesses to them.
As evidence of Jerry Steuerman’s consciousness of guilt the defendant
points to Jerry Steuerman’s sudden disappearance shortly after the
murders, when Jerry Steuerman went to California and attempted to
change his physical appearance and identity.

The defendant attempted to establish that Jerry Steuerman hired
Creedon to murder the Tankleffs, that Creedon brought Kent with him
and had Harris drive them to the Tankleff home. The defendant
introduced several statements purportedly made by Creedon to a number
of witnesses that he was involved in the murders. As discussed above,
most of the testimony essential to defendant’s theory of the case that
the defendant presented to the court was inadmissable hearsay from
witnesses whose credibility and reliability was very questionable.
Although this standard of proof of clear and convincing evidence is
not the most difficult as is required of the People in proving the
defendant’s guilt beyond a reascnable doubt, it is more than a mere
preponderance of the evidence. The reason that this court and the
court in Cole holds the defendant to this level of proof is that the
defendant’s guilt has already been proven beyond a reasonable doubt,
and especially as in this case, to a jury who had the opportunity to
view the testimony and demeanor of the witnesses at trial which was
neld a relatively short time after the commission of these crimes. It
is the court’s opinion that the sanctity of a jury verdict is not to
he disturbed unless the evidence in a free standing claim of actual
innocence is substantial, solid, unwavering, credible and reliable,
which is not what was presented by the defendant.

The witnesses presented by the defendant have come forward
seventeen years after the crimes were committed. Many of the events
they testified to occurred after the murders, many years ago which is
affected by the haze of fading memories. Additionally, as shown above
many of the assertions by defendant’s witness that Creedon admitted to
committing the murders to them may have been motivated by their bias
towards Creedon, such as his son who was raised by his mother who was
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both physically and emotiocnally abused by him.

Additionally, other witnesses were shown to be of the same ilk as
Creedon, that is that they had extensive criminal records consisting
of drug use and dealing, robbery, assault and other similar crimes,
and after considering their testimony as discussed above, the court
finds them not worthy of belief.

Crecdon and his cohorts are certainly capable of using physical
force to intimidate and to rob, and it does appear from the record
that the robberies and acts of intimidation committed by these thugs
were primarily against other drug dealers who would not complain to
the police. These individuals were mainly interested in either
obtaining drugs or money Lo buy morg drugs. :

In this case, nothing appeared to be stolen from the house. This
court finds it hard to believe that characters such as Creedon and
Kent would not have loocked for something to steal from the Tankleff
home. It does not seem likely that Creedon would have committed these

murders, along with Kent and Harris for $25,000 and then not steal
from the Tankleffs.'

Moreover, this court finds it incredible that Creedon and Kent

would have left a potential witness behind by not also murdering the
defendant. : ‘

The evidence of Jerry Steuerman’s sudden disappearance after the
murders which supposedly supported the theory that Jerry Steuerman was
responsible for the murders was advanced by the defendant at his
trial. Jerry Steuerman was examined at. length by the defendant’s
attorney at the trial and he apparently failed to convince the jury
that Jerry Steuerman could have been responsible for the murders to
the extent that it did not leave the jury with reasonable doubt that
the defendant was not the murderer. Instead, Jerry Steuerman
testified at the trial that he was under a lot of pressure because his
. cash flow was not what it used to be, his wife died the year before,
his son was under investigation for a variety of crimes, and the
defendant was accusing him for the murders of his parents. The
cumulative effect of these events caused Steuerman teo think that he
and those he was close to would be better off if he just disappeared.
This would appear to be what the jury believed.

' It is noted that Joseph John Guarscio testified that his
father Joseph Creedon told him that he paid Det. McCready
5100,000.00 to “keep his name out of it”, meaning associating
Creedon with the Tankleff murders. This flies in the face of
any profit motive in this purported killing for hire, since
“reedon would have taken a loss of at least $75,000.
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This stands in contrast to the People’s theory which is what the
jury believed, that is that the defendant murdered his parents.
Initially, let the court point out that regardless of how many times
+he defendant insists that his conviction was based almost entirely on
a false confession, that it is not the case. According to the trial
testimony, the defendant’s contradictory and confusing accounts of
what he did that morning, together with his behavior in the presence
of police officers at the scene, and during the initial investigation
lacked the level of emotion they believed he should have had
apparently made the detectives suspicious of the defendant. The
testimony at the trial revealed a young man from an upper middle class
family, about to start his senior year of high school, suddenly
confronted with the brutal murder of his mother, and a similar attack
on his father who was clinging to life, all of which occurred while he
was supposed to be asleep. '

Although the testimony at trial showed that the defendant was
upset and agitated that morning, tnhe combination of emotions which one
would think he should have been displaying, such as overwhelming
grief, fear, panic, bewilderment, did not appear to be present.
Instead he immediately set about trying to steer the detectives to
Jerry Steuerman as being responsible for the attacks. Indeed, he
shouted out to a friend passing in a car who asked what happened,
either that someone killed his parents and “molested” me or “missed”
me. He was concerned about calling a friend that he was supposed to
accompany to school. He became wide eyed and stunned when he learned
that his father was still alive. This court believes that the
evidence of defendant’s response to the murders the morning of the
crimes played a significant part in the jury’s deliberatiens, in
addition to his conflicting and confusing accounts to the police of
what he did that morning

additionally, the defendant claims that many of the witnesses who
have testified against Creedon have done sc out of a compelling need
to do what is right, that is to free the defendant and to have Creedon
convicted of these crimes. The court does not believe for one instant
that individuals such as Billy Ram, who after having testified in this
court went to Florida and committed several armed robberies which led
to a shootout with law enforcement officials, have a burning desire to
do the right thing. This is also true with Brian Scott Glass, Glen
Barris and Joseph Graydon. These witnesses have spent their lives
placing their individual wants and desires shead of society, and are
not the type of person who would come forward out of a need to clear
their consciences in a matter such as this.

The bulk of the main testimony presented by the defendant at the
hearing, as indicated above, was hearsay which is inherently
unreliable, and any evidence which had some reliability failed to
establish clearly and convincingly that the defendant is actually
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innocent.

Tnis case has been reviewed extensively by every state appellate
court and federal court having Jjurisdiction, all of whom have declined
to upset the jury's verdict. After thoroughly reviewing this matter,
this court reaches the same conclusion that the jury reached seventeen
years ago and every state appellate court and federal court that has
reviewed the case, and that is that Martin Tankleff is guilty of
murdering his parents.

Accordingly, this court finds that the defendant has failed to
demonstrate by clear and convincing evidence that he is actually
innocent. :

The defendant has made a multitude of motions during these
proceedings which this court has found lacking in merit, as are the
numerous remaining arguments in suppcrt of this motion.

It is therefore the decision and order of this court that the
defendant’s motion be and hereby is denied in its entirety.

ENTER,
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INTEREST OF AMICI CURIAE

Amici curige are former New York prosecutors who have a continuing interest in
maintaining the legitimacy of the criminal justice system as a fair and effective means of
punishing the guilty and freeing the innocent.! The fair adjudication of claims of wrongful
conviction 1s a critical test of any system of justice. Under the intense public scrutiny that
wrongful conviction claims receive, the failure to produce a just result resounds far beyond the
confines of a particular case. The role of prosecutors is weakened, and their credibility before
juries, judges, and the public is diminished, if a just outcome is not evident where the public
most demands it. |

This is one such case. The defendant in this case, Martin Tankleff, has presented
persuasive evidence in support of his motion to vacate his sentence and for a new trial. Adoption
of the County Court’s approach would have the result of undermining public confidence in our
system of justice. Amici accordingly submit this brief from their perspective as individuals with
a strong interest in ensuring the reliability of the criminal justice system and who share a concern
that the task of prosecutors will become more difficult if the public cannot be confident that the
innocent can be exonerated. The County Court’s decision, having applied an unduly restrictive

approach to the evidence, threatens those important interests,

A list of amici is found in Appendix A.
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ARGUMENT

1. Public Confidence In The Reliability Of Qur Justice System Has Been Shaken By
Revelations That False Confessions Have Caused Innocent Defendants To Be

Convicted Of Serious Crimes

Mounting evidence of false confessions, particularly in high-profile cases, has called into
question the adequacy of existing safeguards to protect the innocent. See Appendix B (collecting
recent news accounts of exonerations of defendants Qonvicted on the basis of false confessions).
Perhaps best-known among false confession instances in New York is the Central Park jogger
case, in which the false confessions of five teenage boys led to their conviction for rape and other
crimes. Thirteen years after the attack, a serial rapist came forward to confess that he, acting
alone, had committed the crime. Affirmation of Nancy E. Ryan, Assistant District Attorney,
County of New York, in Response to Motion to Vacate Conviction at 37. His DNA sample
matched that found on the victim, and he provided details of the crime unknown to the public.
Id. at 40-42, 56-61. After a thorough investigation, the Manhattan District Attorney’s Office
supported the defendants” section 440.10 motion granted by Judge Tejada. People v. Wise, 194
Misc. 2d 481 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2002).

Although debate continues as to exactly how widespread false confessions are,
researchers have documented a disturbing number of cases. Two-thirds of murder convictions
overturned by DNA evidence, for example, turn out to have been based on false confessions,
according to one account. Welsh S. White, Confessions in Capital Cases, 2003 U. 1ll. L. Rev.
979, 984 (2003); see also Barry Scheck et al., Actual Innocence 120 (2003) (finding false
confessions or admissions in 27% of all DNA exonerations studied). Another study found that

among a total of 340 exonerations of all kinds documented between 1989 and 2003, 15 percent

.



involved false confessions. Samuel R. Gross et al., Exonerations in the United States 1989
Through 2003, 95 1. Crim. L. & Criminology 523 (2005); see also Hugo A. Bedau & Michael L.
Radelet, Miscarriages of Justice in Potentially Capital Cases, 40 Stan. L. Rev. 21, 58 (1987)
(finding 14.3% of wrongful convictions for potentially capital crimes based on false
confessions); Richard A. Leo & Richard J. Ofshe, The Consequences of False Confessions:
Deprivations of Liberty and Miscarriages of Justice in the Age of Psychological Interrogation,
88 1. Crim. L. & Criminology 249 (1998) (discussing 60 cases in which tlhe arrest was based on a
confession that was proven or likely to be false).

Awareness of the problem of false confessions and the scientific understanding of the
phenomenon has dramatically increased as a result of DNA testing. When it was first
introduced, many assumed that DNA testing would do little more than confirm the accuracy of
our system of justice in catching and punishing the guilty. See William S. Sessions, DNA Tests
Can Free the Innocent. How Can We Ignore That?, Wash. Post, Sept. 21, 2003, at B2 (former
head of FBI describing the creation of the FBI's DNA testing lab). The results provéd otherwise;
DNA gathered at a crime often did not match the individuals who were prosecuted. See, e.g., id.
(finding approximately 25% of DNA tests excluded the prime suspect as the perpetrator). As
DNA testing spread, so did exonerations. See id. (noting 137 post-conviction DNA exonerations
for all crimes as of 2003).

Remarkably, police investigators in a recent study were less likely to detect false
confessions than were introductory psychology students or participants’ chance performance.
Saul M. Kassin, “I'd Know a False Confession if I Saw One”: A Comparative Study of College
Students and Police Investigators, 29 L. & Hum. Behav. 211, 214 (2005). In the study, a group

of prisoners were taped accurately recounting the crime for which they were imprisoned {the



accuracy of which was verified by comparison with case records), after which they were told
about a crime they did not commit and instructed to concoct a false confession that was also
taped. Id. at 214-15. The police investigators were less able than the students to identify the
false confessions. Id. at 219. Despite their lower accuracy, police investigators exhibited a
higher confidence in their abilities than did the students. Id. at 218-19.

11. The Danger of False Confession Increases Significantly Among Minors Presented

With Erroneous But Seemingly Convincing Evidence Of Their Own Guilt

Confronting a suspect with seemingly irrefutable—but, in truth, patémly false—evidence
of guilt undoubtedly remains an effective tool in inducing confessions. Success, however, comes
at the price of increasing the likelihood of false confessions. Reliability is further diminished
among adolescents who, more than adults, are susceptible to pressure during interrogation and
less likely to make reasoned judgments.

Research has confirmed that an individual can falsely confess in response to fabricated
evidence of guilt and then internalize the confession. See Saul M. Kassin & Katherine L.
Kiechel, The Social Psychology of False Confessions: Compliance, Internalization, and
Confabulation, 7 Psychol. Sci. 125, 127 (1996) (finding 69% of test participants signed
confessions admitting to errors they did not commit in assigned clerical tasks). Psychologically,
a false confession may be produced “in one of two ways: either by leading [suspects] to believe
that their situation, though unjust, is hopeless and will only be improved by confessing; or by
persuading them that they probably committed a crime about which they have no memory and
that confessing is the proper and optimal course of action.” Richard J. Ofshe & Richard A. Leo,
The Decision to Confess Falsely: Rational Choice and Irrational Action, 74 Denv. U.L. Rev.

979, 985-86 (1997) (analyzing interrogation transcripts and imerviéws from more than 125



cases). Even though innocent, a suspect may reasonably determine that “continued resistance is
futile because the police have evidence that will convict him despite his innocence.” Welsh S.
White, What is an Involuntary Confession Now?, 50 Rutgers L. Rev. 2001, 2053 (1998).

The trustworthiness of confessions procured by the use of false evidence of a suspect’s
guilt is further undermined when the suspect is a youth. Adolescents are overrepresented among
those who falsely confess in response to interrogation. See Steven A. Drizin & Richard A. Leo,
The Problem of False Confessions in the Post-DNA World, 82 N.C.L. Rev. 891, 944 (2004)
(analyzing 125 recent cases of interrogation-induced false confessions). Among all two-year age
groups, researchers found that 16- and 17-year olds registered the highest concentration of false
confessions, [d. at 945, Table 3. False confessions were concentrated in the most serious
offenses, the overwhelming majority occurring in murder cases (81%), followed by cases of rape
(9%) and arson (3%). Id. at 946.

Psychological research suggests that adolescents “do not cope as well with interrogative
pressure as adults,” Gisli H. Gudjonsson, The Psychology of Interrogations and Confessions: A
Handbook 381 (2003). “In particular, interrogative suggestibility, defined as the tendency of an
individual’s account of évents to be altered by misleading information and interpersonal pressure
within interviews is negatively related to age and positively related to the likelihood of false
confession.”  Jessica Owen-Kostelnik et al., Testimony and Interrogation of Minors:
Assumptions About Maturity and Morality, 61 Am. Psychol. 286, 291 (2006) (internal quotation
marks omitted; emphasis in original). When compared with adults, adolescents have been found
more likely to .take responsibility for a mock crime when presented with false evidence of their

guilt. Allison D. Redlich & Gail S. Goodman, Taking Responsibility for an Act Not Committed:



The Influence of Age and Suggestibility, 27 L. & Hum. Behav. 141, 151 (2003) (comparing
reactions of 15- and 16-year olds to those of 18- to 26-year olds).

The reliability of confessions can also be adversely affected by adolescents’
understanding of their legal rights. Researchers have found that immaturity of judgment among
adolescents was reflected in their decision-making concerning criminal proceedings in general
and, specifically, the decision whether to confess to the police or to remain silent. Thomas
Grisso et al., Juveniles’ Competence to Stand Trial: A Comparison of Adolescents’ and Adults’
Capacities as Trial Defendants, 27 L. & Hum. Behav. 333, 336-337, 343, 351-352 (2003).
Research has found that “psychosocial immaturity may affect a young person’s decisions,
attitudes, and behavior in the role of defendant in ways that do not directly implicate competence
to stand trial, but that may be quite important to how they make choices, interact with police,
relate to their attorneys, and respond to the trial context.” Id. at 361. Thus, adolescents “may
make different legal decisions than they themselves would make in their adult years.” Id. at 335.

The law recognizes the fundamental distinction between minors and adults and requires
that “special care must be taken to insure the rights of minors who are exposed to the criminal
justice system.” People v. Ward, 95 A.D. 2d 351, 354 (2d Dep’t 1983). Accordingly, “over and
beyond the ordinary constitutional safeguards provided for aduits subjected to questioning, the
police must exercise greater care to insure that the rights of youthful suspects are vigilantly

observed.” People v. Hall, 125 A.D. 2d 698, 701 (2d Dep’t 1986).”

The United States Supreme Court, in defining the rights of adolescents, has often
observed that they are less capable of mature decision-making than adults. Among the “general
differences between juveniles under 18 and adults,” the Court has ranked their “comparative
immaturity and irresponsibility,” and their heightened “vulnerabl[ility] or susceptibfility] to . . .
outside pressures.” Roper v. Simmons, 543 U.S. 551, 569 (2005) (capital punishment). See also
Thompsen v. Oklahoma, 487 U.S. 815, 824-25 (1988) (“the experience of mankind, as well as
the Jong history of our law, [is] that the normal 15-year-old is not prepared to assume the full
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III.  The Evidence Tankleff Presents Of His Innocence Together With The
Circumstances Surrounding His Confession And The Lack of Evidence Directly

Linking Him To The Crimes Weigh Heavily In Favor Of Retrying His Case

The reliability of Tankleff’s confession is significantly diminished by the fact that he was
induced to confess by false evidence of his guilt and that he had just turned 17 when he was
interrogated. In the words of the County Court, Tankleff “was tricked into confessing when
Detective McCready pretended to receive a telephone call from the hospital where [Tankleff’s]
father was, and told [him} his father had accused him of attacking him. It was this lie that
induced [Tankleff] to confess.” Slip op. at 12. Two additional falsehoods--not mentioned by
the County Court—aided police in winning Tankleff’s confession: their assertion that they had
found a clump of Tankleff’s hair in his mother’s hand, indicating a struggle with him, and their
assertion that a fictitious “humidity test” had shown that he showered after the murders, despite
his protestations to the contrary, to explain why he, as the killer, was not covered with blood. Tr.
at 4151-52. In response to their false evidence of his guilt, Tankleff responded, “{c]ould I have
blacked out and done it?” and asked whether he could have been “possessed.” Tankleff v.

Senkowski, 135 F.3d 235, 241 (2d Cir. 1998).”

responsibilities of an adult”) (capital punishment); Eddings v. Oklahoma, 455 U.S. 104, 115
(1982) (“*{Y]outh is more than a chronological fact. It is a time and condition of life when a
person may be most susceptible to influence . ...”) (capital punishment); Belotti v. Baird, 443
U.S. 622, 634 (1979) (commenting that minors lack the ability “to make critical decisions in an
informed, mature manner”) (parental consent for abortion); Parham v. J.R., 442 U.5. 584, 603
(1979) (“Most children, even in adolescence, simply are not able to make sound judgments
....") (admittance to psychiatric hospital); Ginsberg v. New York, 390 U.S. 629, 649-50 (1968)
(Stevens, J., concurring) (“at least in some precisely delineated areas, a child . . . is not possessed
of that full capacity for individual choice which is the presupposition of First Amendment
guarantees”) (sale of obscene material).

il Significantly, after the detective suggested Tankleff had killed his father, Tankleff
“volunteered to take a lie detector test, but his request was refused.” People v. Tankleff, 199
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According to the testimony of Tankleff’s expert (testimony that the District Attorney did
not attempt to rebut) “the interrogation tactics used by the detectives in this case are consistent
with other cases in which false confessions have been obtained.” Slip op. at 11; see Ofshe, 440
Hrg, 7/21/04, at 75). The County Court discounted the importance of this expert testimony,
arbitrarily concluding that a false confession could occur only under harsher conditions, using as
an example a case involving a longer interrogation in which the suspect was deprived of food
and sleep and was under the influence of drugs or alcohol. Based on this faulty reasoning, the
County Court concluded that “[t]here was no conduct by the detectives [in Tankleff’s case] that
would have rendered the defendant’s confession false.” Slip op. at 12.*

Tankleff’s conviction depended almost entirely on bis confession. Two dissenting
members of the onginal appellate panel who reviewed the evidence went so far as to conclude
that absent Tankleff’s confession, there was no “other evidence connecting the defendant to the
murders.” People v. Tankleff, 199 A.D.2d 550, 556-57 (2d Dep’t 1993)_ (O’Brien, Eiber, 1.1,

dissenting). When combined with the lack of forensic evidence directly implicating Tankleft in

A.D.2d 550, 551-52 (2d Dep’t 1993). The seminal text on police interrogation remarks that a
suspect’s willingness to take “a polygraph examination as soon as possible . . . usually is an
indication of possible innocence.” Fred E. Inbau et al., Criminal Interrogations and Confessions
318 (4th ed. 2004). One of the detectives testified that the test could have been readily

administered at police headquarters. Tr. 3823.

4 The County Court’s further assertion that the tactic of inducing confessions by means of

erroneous evidence of guilt is “the least likely to result in false confession” (Slip op. at 12)
misunderstands both the problem of false confessions and the purpose of expert testimony. The
case that the County Court cited (United States v. Rodgers, 186 F. Supp. 2d 971 (E.D. Wis,
2002)) discusses whether to suppress a confession as involuntary and does not address the lesser
showing required to find that expert testimony would lead jurors to question a confession’s
reliability. See Peter Preiser, Practice Commentaries, McKinney’s CPL § 440.10 (“Assuming
[the] trial court has ruled against {the] defendant on both Miranda and coercion, [the] defendant
nevertheless has a constitutional right to raise voluntariness before the trier of the fact by
producing evidence of police coercive tactics that prompted the incriminating statement, arguing
the circumstances cast doubt upon the credibility of the statement for jury consideration in
reaching a conclusion on guilt.”).



the murder of his parents, and the evidence of his innocence presented at his section 440.10
hearing, the diminished reliability of his confession causes the balance to tip strongly in favor of
granting his request for a new trial. The forensic evidence, if anything, points away from
Tankleff. The knife and barbells that he supposedly used to murder his parents bear no trace of
blood or tissue nor does the sponge Tankleff supposedly used to clean the knife, or any of the
hammers or other knives tested from the house. Tr. at 2250-53, 2304, 2313-16, 2230-37. Even
though the District Attorney’s theory of the case has Tankleff committing the murders naked (to
explain why Tankleff had no blood on his clothes) and then showering to wash off the blood
from the murders, no trace of blood was found in his bathroom, or in ten different drains and
water traps in the house. Tr. 1717-21, 1774-75, 2218-2226, 2265-66, 2312. Although police
found bloodstained glove prints in the house, no gloves consistent with.the prints were found
inside or outside the of the house. Tr. 2460-2475. The police found no scratches or bruises on
Tankleff despite the appearance of “defensive wounds” on Tankleff’s mother that suggested that
she struggled with her attacker. Tr, 2299, 2328, 5005-08.

The newly discovered evidence presented in the section 440.10 hearing supports the
theory, maintained from the beginning by Tankleff, that Jerry Steuermaﬁ, his father’s business
partner, was responsible for the murders. Witnesses testified at the section 440.10 hearing of the

involvement of Jerry Steuerman, Joseph Creedon, Peter Kent, and Glenn Harris in the murders.”

? The County Court was needlessly dismissive of the testimony of witnesses with prior

criminal records. See, e.g., Slip op. at 8 (“[T)his court finds that Billy Ram’s testimony is not
worthy of belief. He is clearly an individual who has always put his personal interests above
society’s which is demonstrated by his lengthy and violent criminal activity which continues to

this day . . . .”); id. at 17 (“[O]ther witnesses . . . had extensive criminal records consisting of
drug use and dealing, robbery, assault and other similar crimes, and after considering their
testimony . . ., the court finds them not worthy of belief.”). Unfortunately, it is often only

witnesses with criminal records who are privy to the words and actions of other criminals. For
that reason, the vast majority of cooperators are criminals. Without them, criminal prosecution
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The strength of this evidence is bolstered by other evidence heard at trial of Steuerman’s motive
for the murders to eliminate the sizable debt he owed Tankleff’s father, Steuerman’s opportunity
to commit or participate in the murders when leaving a card game on the night of the murders,
and Steuerman’s bizarre behavior immediately following the murders of feigning his own
suicide, moving away from New York, and assuming a false identity. The police’s apparent
failure to aggressively investigate these leads or interview additional members of the Tankleff
family further adds to the disquieting notion that Tankleff’s confession is not reliable.’®

Taken together, the strength of the evidence Tankleff presented in support of his section
440.10 motion combined with the weakness of the evidence supporting his conviction
significantly undermine confidence in the verdict and strongly favor a new trial.
1V.  The Integrity Of The Criminal Justice System'Is Judged By Its Fairness To The

Innocent

Prosecutors’ credibility before juries and the public depends upon the existence of a full
range of safety valves to free the innocent when errors have occurred, particularly where police
may have contributed to the conviction of an innocent suspect by forceful and deceptive

interrogation. Accessible judicial remedies under section 440.10 serve this vital purpose. The

would be severely hampered. A better approach, in our view, would be to evaluate each
statement based on its own merits. In this case, many statements are corroborated by other
evidence or witness testimony, providing a substantial basis for a jury on retrial to find
reasonable doubt as to Tankleff’s guilt.

6 Additional concern has been expressed that lead Detective McCready, who was

instrumental in obtaining Tankleff’s confession, was laboring under a conflict of interest that
caused him to pursue Tankleff instead of Steuerman. Unrebutted evidence establishes that
McCready and Steuerman knew each other prior to the murders despite McCready’s unequivocal
denial of that fact when questioned at trial. Compare Tr. 3625-3626 (testimony of McCready
denying any knowledge of Steuverman) and Huntley Hearing tr. at 104-105 (same) with Lubrano,
440 Hrg, 8/3/04, at 75-79 (describing relationship between McCready and Steverman prior to the
murders) and Affidavit of William Vincent Sullivan at 1-3 (same).
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ultimate objective of our system of justice is not only “that the guilty be convicted” but that “the
innocent go free.” People v. Worthy, 112 A.D.2d 454, 456 (2d Dep’t 1985) (internal quotation
marks omitted). Thus, ‘;concern about the injustice that results from the conviction of an
innocent person has long been at the core of our criminal justice system.” Schlup v. Delo, 513
U.S. 298, 325 (1995).

Amici urge this Court to vindicate our shared interest in ensuring that the public’s:
confidence in the accuracy and faimess of our justice system is maintained. That goal is
frustrated if the courts are perceived to place undue hurdles before defendants who discover
strong evidence of innocence after conviction. If we are to ask citizens, as jurors, to deprive a
person of liberty—or, through their elected representatives, to provide us with the necessary
resources to investigate and prosecute crime-—then our system of justice must, no less
aggressively, seek to exonerate the wrongfully convicted. The cost to the credibility of our
system of justice from the incarceration of the innocent far outweighs any disruption in
proceedings that retrial may bring. Although finality is important, its value is premised upon the
assumption that those who are prosecuted and punished are in fact responsible for their crimes.
And of course the People win, too, when exonerations permit them to prosecute and purish the
true perpetrators of crime.” That is the essence of justice.

CONCLUSION

For the reasons set forth above, Tankleff’s motion should be granted, his conviction

vacated, and a new trial ordered.

/ Cf. Injustice in the Jogger Case, New York Times, Dec. 6, 2002, at A34 (noting that after

assaulting the Central Park jogger but before being apprehended, Matias Reyes—~who later
confessed to the attack years after the mistaken conviction of the original suspects—raped four
more women, murdering one of them).
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